#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

## SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 2 1 -2011

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

CRC 8.25(b)

Case No. S195423

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

TERRY VANGELDER,

Defendant and Respondent.

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D059012 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. M039138 The Honorable Gregory W. Pollack, Judge

> JAN I. GOLDSMITH, City Attorney TRICIA PUMMILL, Assistant City Attorney JONATHAN I. LAPIN, Deputy City Attorney California State Bar No. 194552

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

In a prosecution under Vehicle Code section 23152(b) seeking to prove the defendant's blood alcohol level was .08 percent or above based upon grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath, if an expert testifies that (1) the deep lung breath sample measured by breath testing devices is affected by physiological factors in the airway and (2) that sample is therefore unreliable, is that testimony inadmissible because it violates the prohibition against partition ratio testimony established in *People v. Bransford*, 8 Cal. 4th 885 (1994)?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE/CASE HISTORY

On December 22, 2009, Sergeant Berg of the California Highway Patrol at approximately 2:45 a.m. observed Respondent traveling at over 125 miles per hour on Highway 15. (Transcript of Trial [TR.] TR. at 87–88, 93.) Sergeant Berg was an experienced officer with over 26 years experience as a peace officer with the California Highway Patrol and over 500 arrests and 1000 investigations for driving under the influence. (TR. at 84–86.) The sergeant was able to pull Respondent over after about six and a half miles. (TR. at 93, 102, 115, 117 and 119.) The sergeant observed that

Respondent displayed objective symptoms of intoxication. Respondent had the odor of an alcoholic beverage coming from him and red, watery eyes. (TR. at 105–106.) When asked how much he had to drink that evening, Respondent responded that he had two glasses of wine that evening. (TR. at 107.) The sergeant decided to detain Respondent and have him evaluated by another officer for driving under the influence of alcohol. (TR. at 107, lines 11–21.)

Officer Guzman performed the driving under the influence (DUI) evaluation. Respondent told the officer he had three glasses of wine that evening and he started drinking at 8:00 p.m. and stopped drinking at 9:00 p.m. (TR. at 189.) Respondent took a preliminary alcohol screening (PAS) test which revealed his blood alcohol level was .095 and .086 at 3:09 a.m. and 3:11 a.m. respectively. (TR. at 199–200, 252.) Based upon Respondent's performance on the field sobriety tests Respondent was arrested for driving under the influence of alcohol. (TR. at 205.)

Respondent submitted to a breath test which showed his breath alcohol level to be .08 and .08 at 3:37 a.m. and 3:39 a.m. respectively. (TR. at 207, 262–263.) Respondent also submitted a blood sample at 3:53 a.m. which tested at a blood alcohol level of .088 and .087. (TR. at 208, 296, 302.)

The People's expert witness testified that she estimated Respondent's blood alcohol level to be .09 at the time of driving based upon the test results, the body's processing of alcohol, and the timing of the events. (TR. at 302–304.)

Respondent and his son testified that Respondent had three glasses of wine between 7:00 p.m. and 10:00 p.m., then went hiking and returned home where Respondent had one beer around 2:00-2:15 a.m. (TR. 388, 389, 393–394.)

Respondent objected to the admission of the PAS test result to the third decimal place. (TR. at 32.) The court found that such evidence while in conflict with California Code of Regulations, Title 17, based upon case law and the truth in evidence provisions of the California Constitution, Article I, section 28(d) (Proposition 8) the result was admissible to the third decimal point. (TR. at 51.)

Respondent's expert witness, Professor Hlastala, attempted to introduce evidence that the concentration of alcohol in the breath is affected by temperature in the lungs and the airway, alcohol in the throat (or bronchial vessels), the manner of breathing, and other factors as the breath leaves the body and the trial court excluded this testimony on the basis that it was partition ratio evidence and irrelevant. (TR. at 351–57.) Professor Hlastala began testifying regarding the pathway and physical variables that occur inherent to breath tests as follows:

And we have, in the airway, a lot of mucus and water and that mucus lining in the airway plays an important role in protecting us from particles and things we inhale goes on to this mucus, then comes out to the mouth. And it mostly—it would get those things we swallow and goes into the digestive system. But if we have alcohol, there are little blood vessels that come along here, and these blood vessels, those are called "bronchial vessels." And so they bring alcohol so there's a lot of alcohol if you have alcohol in your bloodstream. Now, what happens is if we inhale and we pick up alcohol from this mucus and by the time we pick it up here, and by the time we get down to this air sack, it's already filled up and saturated.

(TR. at 328, lines 3–18.)

The People objected at this point and a hearing pursuant to Evidence Code section 403 was conducted outside the jury's presence to determine if the expert's testimony concerned partition ratio. At the Section 403 hearing Professor Hlastala initially testified as to four factors which cause a breath

test to not be scientifically accurate. These four factors were: breathing pattern, body temperature, hematocrit (or percent of red blood cells), and breath temperature. (TR. at 349, line 16 through 350, line 2.) Professor Hlastala testified that these factors were not directly related to partition ratio because partition ratio applies to a state of equilibrium in a closed container which is not representative of how the human body processes alcohol. (TR. at 350, lines 5–25.)

The court then inquired as to two additional factors, gender and medical conditions, and whether Professor Hlastala thought they were also factors which affected the scientific reliability of breath tests which could be added to the list previously discussed. (TR. at 355, line 17 through 355, line 9.) Professor Hlastala testified that these two factors also affect the scientific reliability of breath tests. (TR. at 355, line 17 through 355, line 9.)

The court's attempt to clarify Professor Hlastala's opinion on partition ratio was not particularly successful. Professor Hlastala responded to the court's question by answering that he did not like the term "partition ratio" because he thought it did not accurately reflect the processes that were occurring. (TR. at 356, line 22 through 357, line 5.) Additionally Professor Hlastala acknowledged that the factors he mentioned as affecting the accuracy of the breath test result in people having different partition ratios than the standard partition ratio used by California law. (TR. at 357, lines 6–12.)

After Respondent's conviction was affirmed in the Appellate Division of the San Diego Superior Court, he petitioned the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division One, for review, arguing that the "entire premise of the [breath] machine is that only alveolar (deep lung) air is measured by the machine," and the prohibition against partition ratio evidence should apply only to evidence of processes at the alveolar level. (Petitioner's

Petition for Transfer for Review in the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, at 1.)

After hearing oral argument, the Court of Appeal reversed the conviction. The Court of Appeal adopted the assumption that "such devices only measure alveolar (deep lung) air." *People v. Vangelder*, 197 Cal. App. 4th 1, 2 (2011). According to the Court of Appeal, the defense expert sought not to testify about variations in hypothetical ratios at the alveolar level, but rather about "problems in obtaining pure data about blood alcohol from the intake of air" utilized in breath testing devices. *Id.* at 4. That is, a measurement of alcohol concentration in the air at the alveolar level is affected by the journey of the air in through the mouth and down the trachea to the lungs and back the other way. Because the defense expert limited his testimony to the effects on air at the non-alveolar level, the defense argued, and the Court of Appeal agreed, that this was not partition ratio testimony.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In this drunk driving prosecution the defense sought to attack the blood alcohol level reported by the breath testing device. Although *People v. Bransford*, 8 Cal. 4th 885 (1994), prohibits the admission of evidence regarding the correlation between blood and breath (partition ratio), the defense sought to introduce expert testimony that the result of the breath test does not accurately reflect the subject's blood alcohol level.

The defense rationale for introducing this evidence was their argument that *Bransford* only prohibits evidence regarding variations to the blood-breath conversion at the alveolar level, and the expert's testimony concerned variations caused by physiological factors in the upper lungs and throat.

This evidence was partition-ratio evidence in disguise. The factors cited by the expert that affect the breath test—temperature in the airway, alcohol in the throat, the manner of breathing, hematocrit et al.—have long been recognized by experts and courts as factors that affect partition ratio. Under *Bransford*, such evidence is irrelevant and prohibited. Accordingly, the trial court properly ruled that the evidence was inadmissible, and the Court of Appeal's holding reversing the conviction must be reversed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I

#### **BACKGROUND**

#### A. THE SCIENCE OF ALCOHOL BREATH TESTING

Alcohol in the carotid arteries travels to the brain and causes intoxication. *People v. McNeal*, 46 Cal. 4th 1183, 1190 (2009). However, as a practical matter it is impossible to measure alcohol in a person's carotid arteries or brain. *Id.* at 1191. Most experts agree measuring alcohol in venous blood or breath provided a good indication of the amount of alcohol in the brain. *Id.* 

Breath machines are based on the scientific principle of Henry's Law, which states the concentration of a volatile substance (alcohol) dissolved in a liquid (blood) is directly proportional to the concentration of that substance in the air next to that liquid. Annot. 90 A.L.R. 4th 155, 160 (1991). It is this principle of direct proportionality between the amount of a dissolved substance in a liquid and the amount of that same substance in the air above that liquid that is the basis for the breath machine conversion of blood alcohol result (alcohol concentration in a liquid solution) based upon a breath alcohol sample (alcohol concentration in the air). *Defense of Drunk Driving Cases*, Volume 2, section 18.01 (2) (3d ed. 1996). Henry's Law assumes a state of equilibrium where factors such as pressure and

temperature are fixed. Under such conditions the direct proportionality can be numerically determined as a specific ratio known as Henry's coefficient. *Id.* Because the ratio can change depending upon factors such as pressure and temperature it is referred to as a coefficient, rather than a constant.

In the human body gases in the blood and airway are exchanged deep within the lungs at alveoli, which are the tiny air sacs at the end of the bronchioles. Harvey M. Cohen and Joseph B. Green, *Apprehending and Prosecuting the Drunk Driver*, section 7.04[1] (Matthew Bender ed. 2002). These air sacs are in close proximity to the capillary blood of the lungs and are separated only by very thin membranes. *Id.* In this area free movement of alcohol from the blood to the breath occurs across these membranes. *Id.* This free-movement area is known as the alveolar air space. Alcohol in the blood diffuses into alveolar air space in the lungs and is exhaled in the breath. *McNeal*, 46 Cal. 4th at 1190–91.

It is in this area that the scientific principle of Henry's Law is applied to calculate blood alcohol readings based upon the ratio that quantifies the concentration of alcohol in the blood relative to the concentration of alcohol in the alveolar air space. *McNeal*, 46 Cal. 4th at 1191. Testing alveolar air cannot be done directly, at its location deep within the lung, because such testing would be extremely invasive and the air space involved is so small. Harvey M. Cohen and Joseph B. Green, *Apprehending and Prosecuting the Drunk Driver*, section 7.04[1]. Instead, this testing is accomplished by having a person give a breath sample by providing a prolonged exhalation; an analysis is then conducted on the last portion of the breath under the theory that it approximates the alveolar air space where the gas exchange is occurring under principles of Henry's Law. *Defense of Drunk Driving Cases*, Volume 2, section 18.01(2) (3d ed. 1996). However, the lungs in a living human do not exist in a fixed state

free of pressure, volume and temperature, and therefore application of the scientific principle of Henry's Law and its assumption of a state of equilibrium conflicts with the those variable conditions. Thus, factors of temperature, method of breathing, and water content of the blood (hematocrit level) have long been known to affect the blood/breath ratio. 90 A.L.R. 4th at 160. Given these variable factors, a blood/breath ratio is not a constant for all people or for the same person under different conditions. *People v. Lepine*, 215 Cal. App. 3d 91, 100 (1989).

A "black box" method was used to empirically determine whether the variation associated with breath testing was acceptable. This was done by conducting correlation studies wherein blood samples drawn from an individual's arm were compared to breath samples taken from that individual at the same time. *People v. Ireland*, 33 Cal. App. 4th 686 (1995); *see also State v. Hanks*, 172 Vt. 93, 95 (Vt. 2001) ("a conversion rate of 2100:1 as an assumed blood-breath ratio, which represents the relationship between the number of alcohol molecules in the bloodstream to the number present in the breath when both substances are tested simultaneously.").

Because the standard was set by looking at numerous individuals in various correlation studies, the amount of overall variance between the blood and breath alcohol results was known. However, because of the black box nature of this method an awareness of every factor affecting such variability and what particular contribution each factor made to the variability was not known or required.

While most studies found average partition ratios were around 2300:1, the ratio chosen for the conversion was set at a lower than average level of 2100:1, to give the benefit of the doubt to the subject in most instances. *State v. Downie*, 117 N.J. 450, 460 (N.J. 1990); *see also McNeal*, 4 Cal. 4th at 1192 ("[d]espite this recognized variability, most scientists

agree that the 2,100-to-1 ratio roughly approximates or even underestimates the ratio of most people).

### B. THE LAW OF DUI BREATH TESTING VIS-À-VIS PARTITION RATIO

In Burg v. Municipal Court, 35 Cal. 3d. 257 (1983), the court upheld the first California statute to criminalize driving with a specified percentage of alcohol in the blood. Bransford, 8 Cal. 4th at 888. At that time Vehicle Code section 23152(b) defined the offense solely in terms of "grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood" but allowed a conversion for alcohol in breath using the standard partition ratio, treating the amount of alcohol in 2,100 milliliters of breath as equivalent to the amount of alcohol in 1 milliliter of blood. *Id.* at 888–89. See also Cal. Code Regulation, Title 17. section 1220.4 sub. (f). It was scientifically accepted at this time that many variables including body temperature, atmospheric pressure, the individual's hematocrit level, and speed and depth of breathing pattern could affect the actual ratio of an individual's breath-alcohol concentration to blood-alcohol concentrations. Bransford, 8 Cal. 4th at 889; see also Ireland, 33 Cal. App. 4th at 689. Accordingly, courts allowed defendants to attack the accuracy of the breath test on the basis of this variability, first as it concerned a defendant's personal partition ratio, and later on the basis that the standard partition ratio is merely an approximation which differs among individuals. *Bransford*, 8 Cal. 4th at 889.

In 1990 the Legislature amended Vehicle Code section 23152(b), effective in 1991, by changing the type of prohibited alcohol level to include breath. While the offense was formerly defined solely in terms of "grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood," the amendment now defined prohibited alcohol level in terms of "grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood or grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath." Thus the

amendment criminalized the act of driving either with the specified bloodalcohol level or with the specified breath-alcohol level. *Id.* at 890.

The legislative history of this amendment indicated the Legislature thought partition ratio evidence was unnecessarily complicated, expensive and time consuming for the courts, and that it did not promote but instead undermined successful enforcement of the legislative scheme. *Ireland*, 33 Cal. App. 4th at 689; *Bransford*, 8 Cal. 4th at 891. When the Legislature made this change it was aware of the complexities of converting breathalcohol values to blood-alcohol values and did so only after considering the opinions of experts on the subject. *Ireland*, 33 Cal. App. 4th at 690, 693. In defining this per se DUI crime by using the standard partition ratio the Legislature necessarily accepted the variability that existed between breathalcohol and blood-alcohol values.

In *Bransford* this Court ruled that such a legislative determination made any evidence as to the factors of that partition ratio variability is irrelevant. "Where scientific opinions conflict on a particular point, the Legislature is free to adopt the opinion it chooses, and the court will not substitute its judgment for that of the Legislature." *Ireland*, 33 Cal. App. 4th at 693 (quoting *State v. Brayman*, 110 Wn.2d 183, 193 (1988)).

Bransford held that evidence concerning the variability of the partition ratio was properly excluded because that crime was defined by the prohibited breath-alcohol level and codified the standard partition ratio as part of the offense, and therefore such evidence was irrelevant as to the per se DUI. McNeal, 46 Cal. 4th at 1196 (citing Bransford, 8 Cal. 4th at 890-92). In contrast, the generic DUI, is defined only as driving under the influence of alcohol pursuant to Vehicle Code section 23152(a), and not by a prohibited breath alcohol level. McNeal, 46 Cal. 4th at 1183.

The generic DUI charge is also distinguished from the per se DUI charge because it carries a rebuttable presumption which allows the jury to presume the defendant is under the influence if they find the defendant has a blood-alcohol level of .08 or more. Vehicle Code section 23610; *see also* CALJIC No. 12.61; CALCRIM No. 2110. This presumption, unlike the per se DUI, is defined only in terms of a blood alcohol level and not a breath alcohol level. *McNeal*, 46 Cal. 4th at 1196–97. While the same conversion factor of 2,100 to 1 (the standard partition ratio) can be used to convert breath alcohol results to a blood-alcohol level, that conversion factor is not a part of the definition of the generic DUI offense presumption. *Id.* This Court in *McNeal* therefore held that while evidence of partition ratio variability is relevant to rebut that presumption for the generic DUI charge, it is irrelevant as to the per se DUI charge. *Id.* at 1196, *Bransford*, 8 Cal. 4th at 885; *Lepine*, 215 Cal. App. 3d at 91.

II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION TO EXCLUDE RESPONDENT'S EXPERT'S TESTIMONY BECAUSE IT WAS IRRELEVANT TO THE PER SE DUI CHARGE PURSUANT TO VEHICLE CODE SECTION 23152(B)

At trial the defense sought to introduce testimony concerning the correlation between alcohol in the breath and alcohol in the blood. The defense position was that "partition ratio" evidence, which is prohibited under *Bransford*, is evidence concerning alcohol and the blood-breath exchange in the alveolar space. The defense expert sought to testify concerning the affect on breath alcohol concentration from other areas of the airway, such as the bronchioles, upper lung, and throat. Despite the defense protestations, this testimony was nothing but partition ratio testimony in disguise.

### A. THE BREATH TEST RELIABILITY IS NOT BASED UPON MEASURING ONLY ALVEOLAR AIR

The statutes regarding breath-alcohol testing and the per se DUI charge affirmatively indicate that such a sample is not required to be pure alveolar air. The per se DUI charge of Vehicle Code section 23152(b) prohibits a person from driving while having a breath alcohol level of .08 percent or more "per 210 liters of breath." Vehicle Code section 23152(b) does not even refer to alveolar air, let alone require the sample to be composed of only alveolar air. Thus, the Vehicle Code only concerns itself with the general term of breath.

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