# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF )	S195423
CAL'IFORNIA )	
Plaintiff/Appellant, )	
)	SUPREME COURT
v. )	FILED
TERRY VANGELDER, )	DEC 2 1 2011
Defendant/Respondent. )	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
	Deputy

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Fourth Appellate District, Div. One, No. D059012 San Diego Superior Court App. Div. No. CA221258 San Diego Super. Ct. No. M039138, Hon. Gregory W. Pollack, Judge

CHARLES M. SEVILLA
State Bar No. 45930
1010 Second Avenue, Suite 1825
San Diego, California 92101
Telephone: (619) 232-2222
Attorney for Terry Vangelder
Respondent
By Appointment of the Court
Under the Appellate Defenders
Assisted Case Program

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

Now, if we allow an expert to get on the stand and testify ... that it's [the alcohol] not really in the blood stream, but comes from the mucus...the only conclusion that one can draw from that is the resulting blood-alcohol reading that spits out by the machine is overstated ... Because it will never understate. It will always overstate. Well, if we have a situation where these machines are constantly overstating and you're challenging it on that basis, you're really challenging it on what's the real partition ratio. But that's exactly the analyses we can't do. (2RT 342.)

As the Opinion found, Dr. Hlastala's proffered testimony was that these are "physiological variables that can affect the sample of breath or air taken." (Opn., at p. 11.) In making its exclusionary order, the trial court misunderstood the law, the factual basis of the proffer, and the science supporting the proposed defense evidence.

In sum, the trial court erred in excluding the expert's testimony

The regulations require a 15 minute wait prior to testing to insure no mouth alcohol contaminates the test. (17 CCR § 1219.3; see Opn., p. 17.) Appellant's assumption is that the machines only need measure the breath sample at the end of every exhalation. If measuring breath out of the mouth were the only requirement, it would render Title 17 regulations concerning mouth alcohol (and the "essentially alveolar air" regulation) irrelevant and meaningless.

which would have undermined the prosecution case that breath tests accurately measured Mr. Vangelder's breath alcohol content.

II. THE ERROR IN EXCLUDING THE DEFENSE BASED ON EXPERT EVIDENCE WAS PREJUDICIAL IN DEPRIVING MR. VANGELDER OF HIS RIGHT TO PUT ON HIS DEFENSE UNDER 14TH AMENDMENT DUE PROCESS AND SIXTH AMENDMENT CONFRONTATION GUARANTEES.

A. Under State and Federal Standards, The Error in Denying the Defense Testimony and Argument is Prejudicial. As argued in Argument I(A) *supra*, the exclusion of the evidence rebutting the prosecution's breath results through Dr. Hlastala's evidence was of constitutional magnitude. (2RT 365.) The error warrants review and reversal under Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18 [17 L.Ed.2d 705, 87 S.Ct. 824].)<sup>17</sup>

Appellant argues no miscarriage of justice occurred under Article VI, section 13. (BOM, p. 20.) The Opinion properly found an abuse of discretion under the more lenient state standard of prejudice. Appellant appears to recognize that the "miscarriage of justice" requirement has long been judicially defined by <u>People v. Watson</u> (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836,

In People v. Stritzinger (1983) 34 Cal.3d 505, this Court reversed a conviction for constitutional error related to the admission of evidence. There, the Court said: "Where a fundamental constitutional right is at issue, erroneous evidentiary rulings are seldom harmless under this standard...." (Id. at 520.) After all, "where federal constitutional error occurs and prejudice can be assessed from the record, there is a strong presumption that the defendant was prejudiced." (People v. Whitt (1990) 51 Cal.3d 620, 649; see also People v. Guzman (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 1282, 1290 [burden of proving error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt is a "heavy" one].) "'To say that an error did not contribute to the ensuing verdict is ... to find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue in question, as revealed in the record." (People v. Neal (2003) 31 Cal.4th 63, 86, quoting Yates v. Evatt (1991) 500 U.S. 391, 403.)

where this Court stated that if a court finds there is an equal balance of reasonable probabilities on the question of whether the error affected the result, there necessarily is a reasonable probability that the result more favorable to the appealing party would have been reached in the absence of the error, and the judgment must be reversed as a miscarriage of justice. (Id. at 837; see also People v. Mar (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1201, 1225, relying on this part of Watson.)

Reversal under the <u>Watson</u> standard is required if there is a "reasonable chance" of a different outcome due to the error. (*See College Hospital Inc. v. Superior Court* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 704, 715; <u>People v. Superior Court</u> (Ghilotti) (2002) 27 Cal.4th 888, 918; <u>People v. Soojian</u> (2010) 190 Cal.App.4th 491, 519; People v. Eid (2010)187 Cal.App.4th 859, 882; <u>People v. Racy</u> (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 1327, 1335; <u>People v. Elize</u> (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 605, 616.)

Under the <u>Watson</u> standard, there was a reasonable chance of a different outcome. While the appellant's brief characterizes as "overwhelming" evidence that Mr. Vangelder was at .08 at the time of the stop (BOM, p. 20), that is obviously not the case. This was a marginal "(b)" case given the breath/blood readings were at the lower limit of culpability. (See discussion of the breath measurements below.) Mr. Vangelder was not demonstrably under the influence when stopped or when driving, thus explaining why the jury hung on the generic DUI under Vehicle Code section 23152, subdivision (a) count. (RT3 515.)

The failure to convict on the generic DUI count occurred even with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The focus of the inquiry is whether the absence of the error would have changed a single juror's mind. (People v. Soojian, supra, 190 Cal.App.4th at 520-521.)

the jury instruction<sup>19</sup> and the prosecution jury argument (2RT 454) that the breath alcohol readings alone could suffice to show petitioner was under the influence for the "a" count. It is a testament to the weakness of the .08 "b" count that the jury hung on the "a" count even with the permissible inference instruction given in this case.

Further demonstrative of the closeness of the case was Ms. Ochoa's testimony that when there is an .08 reading, given the  $\pm$ .01 margin of error, "the true result at that time is somewhere between a .07 and .09." (2RT 316-317.) While she opined, through extrapolation inferences, that the blood alcohol was higher at the time of driving, that assumed peak absorption at the time of the stop. The defense argued that the breath alcohol was lower then and rising during subsequent testing.

Appellant does not grapple with the above, but rather goes through Mr. Vangelder's testimony about his drinking and the various breath test readings to argue "overwhelming evidence." (BOM, pp. 20-21.) Appellant argues Mr. Vangelder's statements and testimony do not support a rising blood alcohol defense. (BOM, p. 21.) But even where witness statements or testimony are completely discredited, that in no way proves a fact the prosecution must show, *i.e.*, the .08 in this case.

The rejection of a witness's testimony by the trier of fact has only the effect of removing that testimony from the evidentiary mix. Without more, the disregard or disbelief of the testimony of a witness is not affirmative evidence of a contrary conclusion. [Citations] In other words, the fact that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The instruction stated: "If the People have proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant's blood alcohol level was 0.08 percent or more at the time of the chemical analysis, you may, but are not required to, conclude that the defendant was under the influence of an alcoholic beverage at the time of the alleged offense." (CT 120.)

the trier of fact does not credit a witness's testimony does not entitle it to adopt an opposite version of the facts which otherwise lacks evidentiary support.

(<u>Beck Development Co. v. Southern Pacific Transportation Co.</u>, (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 1160, 1205.)<sup>20</sup>

While appellant heavily relies on breath test results to argue no prejudice was demonstrated, it was the very accuracy of those tests that Dr. Hlastala's testimony questioned.

1. The Preliminary Alcohol Screen Tests. Thus, appellant relies on the PAS test. (BOM, p. 20.) The PAS results of .095 and .086 were admitted to three decimals. Title 17, CCR, section 1220.4 (b) states: "Analytical results shall be reported to the second decimal place, deleting the digit in the third decimal place when it is present." As Ms. Ochoa testified, even the blood analysis must be reported only in two digits per Title 17. (2RT 296.) Mr. Vangelder objected that the least reliable breath instrument, the PAS, should be allowed the most precise three decimal reading in court. (1RT 31-32.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Accord People v. Jimenez (1978) 21 Cal.3d 595, overruled on other grounds in People v. Cahill (1993) 5 Cal.4th 478 (disbelief of a witness' testimony does not create affirmative evidence to the contrary of that which is discarded. See also Estate of Bould (1955) 135 Cal.App.2d 260, 264.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>The trial court ruling permitted PAS results to be stated in three digits but allowed cross-examination of the officer with this question: "Title 17 is dealing with a more precise test than the PAS test" so that you are "carrying out the three digits, a less precise test, than what is required for two digits on a more precise test?" (1RT 53-54.) It is an absurdity to allow the more sophisticated chemical test (the EC/IR gas chromatograph/infrared device) to provide only a two digit read out, but the least scientific device to give the jury the most detailed "scientific" read out to three digits. Mr. Vangelder protested (continued...)

In any event, the PAS results were undermined by the ±.01 margin of error (1RT 144) as well as by the failure of the officer administering the PAS test to comply with Title 17's important requirement to observe the defendant for 15 minutes (an admitted failure in this case<sup>22</sup>) which protects against mouth alcohol contamination artificially increasing the breath alcohol reading. (*See* In Roze v. Department of Motor Vehicles (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1176, 1189 [the court upheld the trial court's ruling that "based on the evidence before it...the PAS test was not a sufficiently reliable reading of Roze's actual blood-alcohol concentration based on the manner in which it was conducted and the absence of Title 17 compliance"].)

In <u>People v. Wilson</u> (2003) 114 Cal.App.4th 953, the court rejected the notion "that the PAS test is the scientific equivalent of a postarrest blood, breath or urine test....The Legislature may well have found that the results of the PAS breath test, normally administered by a police officer in the field, are less accurate and reliable than the chemical tests administered under more controlled circumstances and likely with more precise equipment." (<u>Id.</u>, at 959-960.)<sup>23</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>(...continued) this (1RT 31-32), but the court would not limit the extending PAS three digit reading. (1RT 51.)

As the prosecutor told the jury. (2RT 452.) (See fn. 5, p. 6, supra.)

Taking a PAS test does not satisfy the chemical testing requirement under the implied consent law and the officer must so advise the driver. (Veh. Code sec. 23612 sub. (i) states: "If the officer decides to use a preliminary alcohol screening test, the officer shall advise the person that he or she is requesting that person to take a preliminary alcohol screening test to assist the officer in determining if that person is under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or a combination of alcohol and drugs. The person's obligation to submit to a (continued...)

The PAS test is authorized as an in-field screening device and investigative tool. Vehicle Code section 23612, subdivision (h) states:

A preliminary alcohol screening test that indicates the presence or concentration of alcohol based on a breath sample in order to establish reasonable cause to believe the person was driving a vehicle in violation of Section 23140, 23152, or 23153 is a field sobriety test and may be used by an officer as a further investigative tool.

Even taking the second PAS reading<sup>24</sup> of .086 and the margin of error ( $\pm$  .01), the result could easily have been below .08 at the time of driving and subsequent testing without factoring in possible mouth alcohol contamination. (1RT 144.) Adding the potential mouth alcohol contamination issue further undermines the PAS as definitive evidence of guilt. Adding Dr. Hlastala's testimony to the mix makes the prejudice determination obvious.

2. The EC/IR Tests. The EC/IR breath measurements at 3:37 a.m. and 3:39 a.m. (approximately 45 minutes after Mr. Vangelder was stopped) were .08, while the blood test taken at 3:52 a.m., over one hour after he was driving, was .087. (2RT 296.) Again, these were marginal readings and within the .01 error rate without factoring in the impact of Dr. Hlastala's testimony. The readings alone were indicative of a rising blood alcohol. Defense counsel argued to the jury noting that the time at issue for the .08

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>(...continued) blood, breath, or urine test, as required by this section, for the purpose of determining the alcohol or drug content of that person's blood, is not satisfied by the person submitting to a preliminary alcohol screening test.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Compare Ms. Ochoa's testimony that she is required to report the lower of the two values in blood testing and further to report them in two decimal places. (2RT 296.)

issue was when Mr. Vangelder was stopped. "You'll hear evidence as to what the results of tests are at times later than the actual driving took place." (1RT 81.) He argued in summation that the test results were indicative of a rising blood alcohol because the time at issue was not the time of the tests, but when Mr. Vangelder was stopped. (2RT 469-470.) He argued the problems with the officer not waiting 15 minutes to administer the PAS. (2RT 466-467.) Further, the defense noted that the breath machines have a plus or minus accuracy of .01 (3RT 482). He further argued the difficulties in extrapolating back in time, as Ms. Ochoa did, to figure the breath alcohol reading at the time of the stop (which assumed full absorption at that time). He argued the results were not indicative of the blood or breath alcohol level at 2:45 a.m. but were below .08 then. (3RT 483.)

The bottom line: the tests were within the margin of error for a finding of less than .08. The City argues there was no evidence of rising blood alcohol, but given the marginal breath readings, the margin of error, the failure to comply with the 15 minute observation, there was plenty of evidence to make the .08 issue close. Assessing the excluded defense evidence, makes clear the prejudice determination.

3. Missing in Action: Factoring in the Excluded Testimony. Most significantly, in its prejudice analysis, appellant does not grapple with assuming error in the denial of Dr. Hlastala's testimony (as it must for purposes of the argument) and then assessing the evidence in light of his testimony. The expert would have credibly testified that breath alcohol tests are unreliable. As noted, the prosecutor had no issues with his credentials or science. He told the court that if an instruction were to be given telling the jury not consider Dr. Hlastala's testimony that he didn't "want to do anything that reflects on the doctor's credibility" because he's "obviously

very qualified." (2RT 364.)

The state law prejudice question asks: in the context of all the evidence *including* Dr. Hlastala's testimony, was there a reasonable chance one juror would have found a reasonable doubt and voted to acquit? Some number of jurors held that doubt on the generic DUI charge. With the addition of the excluded evidence, there was a reasonable chance one or more would have done the same as to the .08 count.<sup>25</sup>

Appellant's brief fails to do this essential analysis and simply argues a form of substantial evidence assessment. Its failure to address the prejudicial result in excluding the defense evidence had it been admitted must be taken to mean that the exclusion was prejudicial.

Dr. Hlastala's testimony surely would have given Mr. Vangelder a "reasonable chance" of a better outcome on the .08 count. Because "the issue affected by the ruling was crucial....An error that impairs the jury's determination of an issue that is both critical and closely balanced will rarely be harmless." (People v. McDonald, supra, 37 Cal.3d 351, 376.) The error prejudiced Mr. Vangelder.

#### CONCLUSION

Mr. Vangelder had a constitutional and statutory right to introduce his defense to the accuracy of the breath results produced by the prosecution. Title 17 requires "essentially alveolar" air be sampled, but Dr. Hlastala's testimony would have shown that no alveolar air is sampled. As

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